EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL CABINET MINUTES

Committee:	Cabinet	Date:	15 June 2017
Place:	Council Chamber, Civic Offices, High Street, Epping	Time:	7.00 - 8.05 pm
Members Present:	C Whitbread (Chairman), S Stavrou (Vice-Chairman), W Breare-Hall, A Grigg, H Kane, A Lion, J Philip, G Mohindra and G Waller		
Other Councillors:	R Baldwin, R Bassett, N Bedford, R Brookes, S Kane, C C Pond, C P Pond, M Sartin, J H Whitehouse and D Wixley		
Apologies:	-		
Officers Present:	G Chipp (Chief Executive), D Macna of Neighbourhoods), C O'Boyle (Dire of Resources), D Bailey (Head of T Assistant Director (Planning Policy)), Manager), T Carne (Public Relations Project Improvement Officer), M W G J Woodhall (Senior Democration (Webcasting Officer)	ctor of Go ransforma , J Housto and Mark Varr (Eco	overnance), R Palmer (Director ation), A Blom-Cooper (Interim on (Local Strategic Partnership teting Officer), S Lewis (Senior nomic Development Officer),

1. WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION

The Leader of Council made a short address to remind everyone present that the meeting would be broadcast live to the internet, and would be capable of repeated viewing, which could infringe their human and data protection rights.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

(a) Pursuant to the Council's Member Code of Conduct, Councillor G Mohindra declared an interest in agenda item 10, Epping Forest District Local Plan – Implementation, by virtue of being a Governor of Epping Forest College. The Councillor had determined that his interest was non-pecuniary and would remain in the meeting for the consideration of the issue.

(b) Pursuant to the Council's Member Code of Conduct, Councillor G Mohindra declared an interest in agenda item 12, Digital Enterprise Programme, by virtue of being both a member of the West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group and the Deputy to the Cabinet Member for Economic Growth, Skills, Infrastructure and the Digital Economy at Essex County Council. The Councillor had determined that his interest was non-pecuniary and would remain in the meeting for the consideration of the issue.

3. MINUTES

Decision:

(1) That the minutes of the meeting held on 6 April 2017 be taken as read and signed by the Leader as a correct record.

4. **REPORTS OF PORTFOLIO HOLDERS**

Asset Management & Economic Development

The Portfolio Holder reported that a number of agreements for leases at the Epping Forest Shopping Park had been signed, including with Next and Hobbycraft, and that further agreements were being progressed.

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS & REQUESTS TO ADDRESS THE CABINET

Mr M Calder of Phase 2 Planning Ltd, asked the following question on behalf of Peer Group plc, who were promoting 38 acres of their 500+ acre Ongar Park Estate for a residential allocation in the Local Plan:

"The Chief Executive of EFDC wrote to my client's solicitor on 7th June and said:

"Officers are starting to evaluate additional sites identified during the consultation process this week. Your client's submission is amongst those sites. I anticipate that the evaluation against the Council's site selection criteria which will feed into the Regulation 19 Plan will be ready early next year."

Councillor John Philip has publicly stated that some allocated sites will be dropped and some new sites added into the submission draft Local Plan.

Given that six months has passed since the Regulation 18 consultation closed and the Council is, by its own admission, on a very tight timescale to prepare its pre submission draft for Regulation 19, will the Portfolio Holder and the Chief Executive set out a clear statement explaining fully:

(i) how these additional sites, which are only being evaluated at this stage of the Local Plan process, will be fully and appropriately assessed?

(ii) how is the Council going to manage the process of de-coupling previously allocated sites from the Local Plan process given that it is already engaged with the promoters of those sites?"

The Portfolio Holder for Planning & Governance made the following response:

"The Council has a robust and comprehensive site selection process which has assessed consistently all the sites proposed for residential, traveller and employment development in the District. New sites and amended sites for residential, employment and traveller development which have been put forward since the 2016 site selection work will be assessed in accordance with the agreed methodology published as part of the Draft Local Plan consultation. This is available on the Council's website. Stage 6 of the methodology sets out the process for the review of sites following the Draft Local Plan consultation. This is being expanded to set out in more detail the process that will be followed and will be published as soon as possible.

As set out in paragraph 10 of tonight's Cabinet report none of the work associated with Local Plan implementation binds the Council to the proposed development sites set out within the Draft Local Plan. The proposed processes and ongoing discussions taking place through the Developer Forums acknowledge that the Draft Local Plan may change prior to Pre-Submission publication, Examination-in-Public and Adoption." The Portfolio Holder also clarified that it was likely, not definite, some of the current allocated sites would be discarded with some new sites added into the submission of the draft Local Plan.

6. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

The Chairman of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee reported that the following items of business had been considered at its meeting held on 6 June 2017:

(a) a presentation from the Chief Executive, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Nurse from Princess Alexandra Hospital in Harlow, followed by a question-and-answer session;

(b) the Council's Corporate Priorities and Key Objectives for 2017/18;

(c) agreed the Terms of Reference, Work Programme, composition, Chairman and Vice-Chairman for each Select Committee for 2017/18;

- (d) established the new Transformation Task-and-Finish Panel; and
- (e) agreed the Overview & Scrutiny Annual Report for 2016/17.

7. FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT CABINET COMMITTEE - 30 MARCH 2017

The Finance Portfolio Holder presented the minutes from the meeting of the Finance & Performance Management Cabinet Committee, held on 30 March 2017.

The Cabinet Committee had made one recommendation for the Cabinet to consider concerning the quarterly update of the Corporate Risk Register. The other issues considered by the Cabinet Committee included: Monitoring of the Key Performance Indicators during the third quarter of 2016/17; the Proposed Key Performance Indicators and Targets for 2017/18; and the Revenue and Capital Monitoring Report for the third quarter of 2016/17.

Decision:

Risk Management – Corporate Risk Register

(1) That the Effectiveness of Controls/Actions and Required Further Management Action for Risk 2, Strategic Sites, be updated;

(2) That the Vulnerability and Key Date for Risk 4, Finance Income, be updated;

(3) That, incorporating the above changes, the amended Corporate Risk Register be approved; and

(4) That the Risk Management Strategy and Policy Statement be adopted.

Reasons for Decision:

The Cabinet was satisfied that the Cabinet Committee had fully addressed all of the relevant issues.

Other Options Considered and Rejected:

The Cabinet was content that the Cabinet Committee had considered all of the relevant options and that there were no further options to consider.

8. ASSET MANAGEMENT AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CABINET COMMITTEE - 13 APRIL 2017

The Portfolio Holder for Asset Management & Economic Development presented the minutes from the meeting of the Asset Management & Economic Development Cabinet Committee, held on 13 April 2017.

There were no recommendations for the Cabinet to consider. Other issues considered at the meeting included: the Economic Development Team Progress Report; a progress report on the Asset Management Development Projects; and a progress report on the Epping Forest Shopping Park.

Cllr C C Pond enquired whether the development at the site of the former Winston Churchill Public House, which would be seven or eight stories high when finished, would be fully compliant with Building Regulations given the recent appalling fire at a tower block in Kensington & Chelsea. The Portfolio Holder stated that she would provide a written answer in the Council Bulletin in due course.

Cllr C C Pond also enquired whether the Epping Forest Shopping Park would open before the current roadworks in Chigwell had been completed. The Portfolio Holder stated that access would be granted to tenants from 26 June to begin their shop fitting and the new traffic lights would become operational next week. However, there was still time before the Shopping Park would actually open, which would allow a further period for the roadworks to be completed.

Decision:

(1) That the minutes of the meeting of the Asset Management & Economic Development Cabinet Committee, held on 13 April 2017, be noted.

Reasons for Decision:

The Cabinet was satisfied that the Cabinet Committee had fully addressed all of the relevant issues.

Other Options Considered and Rejected:

The Cabinet was content that the Cabinet Committee had considered all of the relevant options and that there were no further options to consider.

9. EPPING FOREST DISTRICT LOCAL PLAN - IMPLEMENTATION

The Portfolio Holder for Planning & Governance presented a report on the implementation of the District Local Plan.

The Portfolio Holder reminded the Cabinet that, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, the Council was required through the Local Plan to plan to meet the short and long term objectively assessed development needs of the District. This would require a significant step-change in future levels and complexity of development being brought forward in the District, which would need to be managed and overseen by the Council. Alongside the progression of the Local Plan,

the Council therefore needed to establish the necessary processes and arrangements to prepare for the delivery of the planned level of development and infrastructure. Taking such steps now would help the Council to demonstrate at the Examination in Public for the Local Plan that the Plan was deliverable and therefore 'sound'. An action plan was being developed to progress this work.

The Portfolio Holder added that this included the preparation of a framework for the production of Planning Performance Agreements, which had been appended to the report. A draft had been discussed with the Developer Forums, Members, the Local Plan Officer Working Group and Management Board. In addition, these groups had considered where and how Strategic Masterplans should be produced and the proposed sites/areas requiring such an approach. Once the approach had been approved, the Council would need to ensure that the necessary skills and resources were put in place in a timely fashion to enable Local Plan implementation to progress as proposed.

Cllr A Grigg, as a local Member for North Weald Bassett, was not particularly enamoured by the proposals. All of the proposed sites for North Weald Bassett had been progressed to this stage, which would not please residents of the village. The Portfolio Holder stated that none of the sites from the draft Local Plan had been removed, and the Council was now investigating possible groups of sites where it would be logical to perform a Strategic Masterplan. All of the sites identified would have some degree of input from the Council, and the bigger sites would have more input via a Masterplan. It might be possible to use the previous North Weald Bassett Masterplan from 2014 as the base for the new version, as there would be more detail in the new Masterplan.

In response to questions from the Members present, the Portfolio Holder stated that the process for Regulation 19 would be completed in the early months of 2018, and the Local Plan would then be submitted for its Examination in Public, which usually took place approximately six months after its submission. The final Local Plan would then be adopted by the Council. Town and Parish Councils would not be encouraged to go ahead on their own with Neighbourhood Planning; it was intended to fully include the Town and Parish Councils in the process up to the adoption of the Local Plan. The Council would always need to maintain a five-year land supply for housing development; the Local Plan would show how this would be implemented up to 2033, and the ideal scenario would be to start small and increase the amount of development throughout the District over time. In respect of road capacity, the Council was already performing some traffic assessments, but it would be better to perform this analysis when all of the sites were known, for which the Council would have a better idea once the Regulation 19 process had been completed.

In conclusion, the Portfolio Holder reiterated that no decisions had yet been made regarding any of the sites and the Council had a legal obligation to consider any new sites proposed as part of the Local Plan process. The estimated costs had already been factored into the Local Plan budget, but accuracy was considered more important than speed in following the process.

Decision:

(1) That the corporate implications for the delivery and implementation of the Local Plan, including the need to establish appropriate processes and arrangements and put in place the necessary resources, be noted;

(2) That the emerging approach to the production of Strategic Masterplans in the District, including the identification of sites/areas (subject to progression of the Local Plan) requiring the production of a Strategic Masterplan, be agreed; and

(3) That the emerging approach to the introduction of Planning Performance Agreements associated with the progression of sites identified for allocation through the emerging Local Plan be agreed.

Reasons for Decision:

To support the successful progression of the Local Plan and ensure that the Council took a pro-active position in managing and delivering development and infrastructure requirements.

To ensure that the Council was in the strongest possible position to resist speculative and potentially inappropriate development proposals that did not form part of the emerging Local Plan.

Other Options Considered and Rejected:

To delay the work associated with the implementation of the Local Plan, or to adopt a less pro-active approach to managing and overseeing the development and infrastructure proposals emerging as part of the Draft Local Plan, which would carry a risk that the Plan would not be seen as deliverable at the Examination in Public and therefore not 'sound'.

10. FLEXIBLE HOMELESSNESS SUPPORT GRANT

The Housing Portfolio Holder presented a report on the possible uses for the Flexible Homelessness Support Grant.

The Portfolio Holder reported that the Council had received a new Government Flexible Homelessness Support Grant which was required to be ring fenced to be used on homelessness services in the sum of £277,000 for 2017/18 and would receive a further £313,000 in 2018/19. A number of initiatives for the initial use of the Grant was detailed; and the Housing Portfolio Holder had already considered the use of some of the grant (Portfolio Holder Decision HSG-014-2016/17 refers).

Furthermore, the Portfolio Holder stated that, following the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 receiving Royal Assent on 27 April 2017, Officers had been informally advised that the Government was working towards a commencement date of April 2018. Under the Act, there would be considerable additional duties placed upon authorities nationally to prevent and reduce homelessness. Due to the additional duties and burdens being placed on authorities, the Government had announced that it would be providing financial support to help meet with the new duties. It was proposed that a further report would be submitted to the Cabinet at a later date on the use of the remaining Flexible Homelessness Support Grant funding and any further funding that might be received due to the implications of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, once the additional duties under the Act placed on the Council could be better assessed.

Cllr G Mohindra, as Finance Portfolio Holder, offered his support for the proposals.

Decision:

(1) That the Government's Flexible Homelessness Support Grant (required to be

ring fenced for use on homelessness services), already received by the Council in the sum of \pounds 277,000 in 2017/2018 and \pounds 313,000 to be received in 2018/2019 be used initially as follows:

(a) to continue working with Genesis Housing Association in order to provide private rented accommodation to homeless applicants to prevent homelessness, with a budget of £60,000 in both 2017/18 and 2018/19 to fund the cost of the Association's Management Fees;

(b) to meet the Council's own housing related support costs at the young parents scheme Railway Meadow, Ongar with a budget of £29,000 in both 2017/18 and 2018/19; and

(c) to fund homelessness initiatives already agreed by the Cabinet at its meeting on 2 February 2017 (Minute 130 refers) (other than the 'Invest to Save' funding) in the sum of £43,500 in both 2017/18 and 2018/19 resulting in a saving to the General Fund;

(2) That a further report be submitted to the Cabinet later in the municipal year for consideration to be given:

(a) for the use of the balance of the Flexible Homelessness Support Grant of approximately \pounds 131,000 in 2017/18 & \pounds 167,000 in 2018/19; and

(b) include options for the use of any additional grant received from the Government in order to provide financial support to help meet with new duties under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.

Reasons for Decision:

To consider the initial use of the Government's Flexible Homelessness Support Grant funding and agree some initiatives for implementation.

Other Options Considered and Rejected:

(i) To not consider the initial use of the Government's Flexible Homelessness Support Grant funding.

(ii) To agree alternative options for use of the Flexible Homelessness Support Grant.

(iii) To not receive a further report on the use of the remainder of the Grant or any further Government funding received as a result of the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.

11. DIGITAL ENTERPRISE PROGRAMME

The Portfolio Holder for Technology & Support Services presented a report on the Digital Enterprise Programme.

The Portfolio Holder reminded the Cabinet that the District had seen considerable investment in the enhancement of its superfast broadband infrastructure and network capability in recent years. With coverage scheduled to reach approximately 97% of the District by June 2019, focus had now shifted to how the Council could maximise the strategic return from this investment for its residents, businesses, visitors and partners. The Digital Enterprise Programme sought to pull together a number of key

inter-related digital projects that were planned for the District and, in some cases, its local authority neighbours, as well as public and private sector partners in order to achieve a coordinated set of benefits in the most efficient and effective way.

The Portfolio Holder detailed three key project elements of the overall programme so as to ensure visibility of the projects and formalise the approach that was being taken to develop these work streams. First of all, a cross-sector, cross boundary digital strategy would be commissioned to develop a coordinated picture of the digital place that existed in the District and across the wider partnership area, and to establish a coordinated set of infrastructure needs and aspirations of the partners which might assist private sector providers in building their business cases to address these needs. Secondly, the programme would explore the potential to establish free town centre wi-fi throughout the District's town centres to support economic development and increased levels of digital engagement or connectivity. Finally, the proposed additional investment in superfast broadband to take the level of coverage across the District closer to 100% of homes and business premises was outlined; including the use of £45,000 from the Epping Forest Economic Opportunities Fund and an application for further grant funding from Broadband Delivery UK (BDUK) / Essex County Council.

Cllr Mohindra, as Finance Portfolio Holder, offered his support for the proposals, and Cllr Grigg, as Portfolio Holder for Asset Management & Economic Development, reminded the Cabinet that the Council had struggled to find applications for the Economic Opportunities Fund and therefore she was happy to support these proposals.

Cllr Philip stated that he was not in favour of recommendations (3) and (4) as he was yet to be convinced of the benefit for the provision of free public wi-fi and did not think that the Council should be involved in this. The Councillor felt that the provision of free wi-fi in town centres was now less important and perhaps the Council should consider the provision of free wi-fi in the larger villages instead. The Portfolio Holder clarified that he was looking to facilitate the provision of free wi-fi in the town centres through sponsorship with third parties, rather than its direct provision by the Council.

Decision:

(1) That the content of the Digital Enterprise Programme brief be agreed and the cross-border, cross-sector collaborative approach be endorsed;

(2) That the use of the External Partnership Fund up to a maximum of £25,000 to make an additional contribution by the Council as determined by the level of funding secured from partners to commission a co-funded digital strategy for the wider West Essex / East Herts area or Digital Innovation Zone be agreed;

(3) That the proposal to allocate up to £45,000 from the Epping Forest Economic Opportunities Fund towards the examination of options for the provision of free town centre wi-fi in one, some or all of the District's town centres, and, subject to consultation recommendations, the procurement of the most appropriate model and service provider be agreed;

(4) That any additional investment required be subject to a further report to Cabinet;

(5) That the expression of interest in further investment in the superfast broadband network sent by letter from the Portfolio Holder for Technology and Support Services to BDUK / Essex County Council be endorsed; and

(6) That, subject to the success of the grant application to BDUK, a further report to Cabinet be submitted seeking agreement to invest further in the local superfast broadband programme and, if agreed, to submit a bid for funding as part of the 2018/19 budget setting process.

Reasons for Decision:

The Digital Enterprise Programme had the potential to contribute, directly and indirectly, towards a number of the strategic aims and objectives within the Council's Corporate Plan for the period 2015-20, including:

• Objective 1 (c) To explore appropriate opportunities to make savings and increase income through the shared delivery of services with other organisations, where such arrangements would provide improved and / or more cost effective outcomes; and

• Objective 2 (b) To increase opportunities for sustainable economic development and new local employment in the District and make Council services easier to access.

Other Options Considered and Rejected:

To not manage projects under the proposed Digital Enterprise Programme in accordance with adopted programme management best practice; however, this would run the risk of failing to identify and manage the programme's aims and intended benefits in the most effective way possible. It would also miss the opportunity to share programme management skills and methodology that were being utilised and developed elsewhere within the Council.

The Council could seek to pursue all of these projects in its own right and without the involvement of neighbouring authorities or the input of private sector providers. However this would impact on the District's ability to go 'further, faster' and, in addition, this would artificially limit the scope of any digital projects or initiatives and potentially miss out on the opportunity to develop coordinated solutions for joint areas of need.

The Council could also choose to not pursue this programme of digital projects, leaving all future developments to be determined by market forces, upper tier council authorities or national government initiatives. However, this would risk the District falling behind if its location, assets or digital opportunities were not appealing in their own right and would put its residents and businesses at a significant disadvantage. This was particularly relevant to the non-provision of public free wi-fi , which could put our town centres at a comparative disadvantage to other nearby town centres and would limit the local authority's scope to deliver innovative smart technologies and initiatives as an add-on to the wi-fi capability.

12. CORPORATE PLAN 2015-2020 - KEY ACTION PLAN 2016/17 (OUTTURN)

The Leader of Council presented a report on the outturn of the Key Action Plan for 2016/17.

The Leader reminded the Cabinet that the Corporate Plan was the Council's key strategic planning document, setting out its priorities over the five-year period from 2015/16 to 2019/20. The priorities or Corporate Aims were supported by Key Objectives and the annual identification of key objectives provided an opportunity for

the Council to focus attention on how areas for improvement would be addressed, opportunities exploited and better outcomes delivered during the year. The key objectives were intended to provide a clear statement of the Council's overall intentions for each year, and were supported by a range of actions and deliverables designed to achieve specific outcomes.

The Leader stated that a range of key objectives for 2016/17 had been adopted by the Cabinet in February 2016. Progress in relation to individual actions was reviewed by the Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a quarterly and outturn basis. At the end of 2016/17: 33 (67%) of the Key Actions had been achieved; 9 (19%) were under control; and 7 (14%) were behind schedule.

Decision:

(1) That, as part of the Council's Corporate Plan for the period 2015/16 – 2019/20, the progress with the achievement of the Council's Key Action Plan for 2016/17 at the end of the municipal year be noted.

Reasons for Decision:

It was important that relevant performance management processes were in place to review progress against the key objectives, to ensure their continued achievability and relevance, and to identify proposals for appropriate corrective action in areas of slippage or under-performance.

Other Options Considered and Rejected:

No other options were appropriate in this respect. Failure to monitor and review performance against the key objectives and to consider corrective action where necessary, could have negative implications for the Council's reputation and judgements made about its progress, and might mean that opportunities for improvement were lost. The Council had previously agreed arrangements for the review of progress against the key objectives.

13. TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME – HIGHLIGHT REPORT (MARCH 2017) & SERVICE ACCOMMODATION REVIEW

The Leader of Council presented the Transformation Programme Monitoring Report for March 2017 and an update on the Service Accommodation Review.

The Leader reminded the Cabinet that regular highlight reports on the progress of the Transformation Programme were presented to each meeting of the Cabinet. This was the highlight report for March 2017 and covered progress for all chartered projects of Medium and High Risk Potential, as well as the key aspects of the Transformation Programme. Overall, progress indicators for 'cost' and 'benefits' were Green for this period. The indicator for 'time' was Amber to highlight that 1 action from a total of 194 actions was overdue. The indicator for 'delivery / outcomes / outputs' was Amber to highlight that 2 projects were on hold.

The Leader stated that the first stage of the Accommodation Review had concluded on 9 March when the Cabinet had considered a number of strategic outline cases. The preferred option involved a re-configuration and refurbishment of the new building and releasing the Condor building, 323 house and the rear extension for redevelopment. Whilst the outline case set out income and costs at a high level, a more detailed business case was now required to establish a sequential costed programme of works, a clear time line and the indicative layout and number of workstations to be provided.

The Leader added that, when the purchase of the former police station in Waltham Abbey was being evaluated it became clear the purchase of Bridgeman House was not going to proceed and so the £297,000 included in the Capital Programme was available to be re-allocated. As the Accommodation Review had now reached the detailed feasibility stage, it could be funded from the Capital Programme and it was sensible to re-allocate a budget that was no longer required instead of seeking a supplementary estimate. Consequently, the Leader was requesting that the Cabinet recommend a virement in the sum of £120,000 from the capital budget for the purchase of Bridgeman House to the Council for approval, in order to fund the production of the business case for the Service Accommodation Review.

The Cabinet felt that this was a sensible approach and was happy to agree the virement. Cllr C C Pond enquired as to whether the Council had an Archiving Policy. The Head of Transformation confirmed that the Council did have an Archiving Policy and agreed to provide the Councillor with a copy of it.

Decision:

(1) That the progress of Projects and Programmes within the Transformation Programme for March 2017, alongside the planned actions for April 2017, be noted;

(2) That the update on the Service Accommodation Review, including the Programme Definition Document, be noted and a detailed business case for the option selected by Cabinet in March be progressed; and

(3) That, in order to fund the external support for the production of the business case, a virement of \pounds 120,000 from the capital budget for the purchase of Bridgeman House be recommended to the Council for approval.

Reasons for Decision:

To inform the Cabinet of progress on the Transformation Programme, including work streams, programmes and projects.

In order to progress the Accommodation Review to achieve the stated objectives of the Cabinet, then external support and funding for this support was necessary.

Other Options Considered and Rejected:

No other options were available as failure to monitor and review progress of the Transformation Programme and to consider corrective action where necessary, could have negative implications for the Council's reputation, and might mean opportunities for improvement were lost.

The Cabinet could decide not to progress the Accommodation Review or to progress the Review but fund it in some other way. However, if the review was not to be progressed then it would mean foregoing the opportunity to transform the Council's accommodation and working practices.

Capital funding could be provided through a supplementary estimate; however, this was not recommended as sufficient resource existed within the current Capital Programme.

14. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

The Cabinet noted that there was no other urgent business for consideration.

15. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS

The Cabinet noted that there was no business which necessitated the exclusion of the public and press from the meeting.

CHAIRMAN